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Description

Glendale Cemetery is an eighty-eight (88) acre site developed in the picturesque style of the
nineteenth--century Rural Cemetery Movement. The largest portion of the property was
originally called The Akron Rural Cemetery. Another cemetery of about eight (8) acres, called
“Oak Openings” was incorporated into the property in 1850. A final major expansion occurred
just before 1891, when the western section was added.

The property is bounded on the east side by Glendale Avenue and Locust Street, on the north
side by Maple Street, and on the west side by St. Bernard’s Cemetery and West Exchange Street.
The southern boundary of the property is partially defined by Wills Avenue and Center Street.
The contributing resources for the nomination include the cemetery site (1) the previously
nominated buildings (4) and the mausoleums (34). The garage maintenance building is
considered non-contributing.

The general topography of the grounds consists of hills and plateaus flanking a central valley,
which rises into a broad meadow area. The hills and central valley floor mark the entrance to the
cemetery and the experience of travelling from the eastern entrance to the western edge is one of
a landscape rising and opening up. The two hills, which were noted as Prospect Hill (north side)
and Tower Hill (south side) on the 1891 map surveyed by J.W. Seward and A.H. Sargent, are
found near the entrance. A central avenue, called Cypress Avenue, winds between the two hills.

Willow Brook, a small stream, originally meandered through this central valley. The 1856 map
of Akron indicates that a Wilcox Run flowed through the Akron Rural Cemetery and into the
Ohio & Erie Canal at Market Street. This stream is not depicted on the 1874 map. Willow Brook
1s indicated on the 1891 survey, but it was filled in sometime before the construction of the office
building in 1903. The brook formed two bodies of water along its course, which the map
identifies as Swan Lake and Willow Lake. Neither of these lakes exists today, however,
evidence of Willow Brook’s location remains on the site. The stone railings of numerous bridges
mark where Cypress and Spruce Avenue, and several paths leading up to mausoleums crossed
over the brook.

This description of the cemetery will be organized into four sections: the Main Entrance and
Cypress Avenue Valley, Northwestern Plateau, Great Meadow Area, and Southeastern Plateau.
Each section will contain maps of the current appearance and former (1891) appearance to better
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understand the existing orientation of the monuments. In addition to describing the monuments,
the general topography, orientation and layout, natural features, circulation systems, and notable

vistas will be described.

Main Entrance and Cypress Avenue Valley

The main entrance of the Cemetery is at the eastern end of the site. It is located at the
intersection of Glendale Avenue and Locust (formerly Park Place) at the bottom of the valley.
Original stone piers mark the gate. (Photo 1). The small, relatively flat area just inside the gate
is mostly open lawn area, with a few trees or omamental plantings. In this area are four
structures: the Office Building (1903), the Caretakers Residence (1896), The Memorial Chapel
(1875-1876), and the Bell Tower (1883). (Photo 2) All four of these structures are listed in the
National Register of Historic Places and are described in that document. (NR Akron Rural
Cemetery Group, 1980) The 1891 Map of Glendale illustrates a very different central valley.
The only mausoleum was the Commins mausoleum and the valley floor was defined by Willow
Brook, which fed Willow Lake and Swan Lake. Willow Lake extended west beyond the current
valley and was located where the Great Meadow and the Masonic sections are today. (See
illustration 7)

The Office Building and Caretakers Residence flank the entrance drive and the Bell Tower sits
approximately 60’ above the entrance drive atop the adjacent hill to the south. (Photo 3) Just
past the Office Building, Spruce Avenue intersects with Cypress Avenue and curves up the
hillside passing in front of the Chapel. The Chapel is an imposing stone Gothic building that is
encountered immediately past the two administrative buildings. A drive over a cut stone bridge,
which consists of low gabled sidewalls flaring out to square posts with square capitals, becomes
a circular drive that surrounds the Chapel. (Photo 4 ) Fronting the chapel is an island containing
a monument consisting of a full entablature supported by two Doric columns flanking a statue of
Christ. This script on the three tiered base reads as follows : “To Our Unknown Dead, 1861 —
1866, Erected by Buckley Post No. 12 G.A.R.” (Photo 5)

Cypress Avenue is the spine of the cemetery. The segment of Cypress from the entrance to Ash
Avenue is the first segment. The continuation west on the avenue is a part of the 1891 addition
to the cemetery. This later segment loses the feeling of a valley, opening to a more level

topography.
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The hills rising from the north and south clearly define the area and create a vista of massive
stone mausoleums in a curvilinear line. The vegetation in this area is characterized by open lawn
along the valley floor with trees covering the hillside. An allee of Silver Maples runs behind the
chapel between a row of mausoleums and Cypress Avenue. Some mausoleums are fronted with
newer ornamental shrubbery. The black top road is edged in sections with cut-stone curbs.

Like a row of townhouses lining a street in a fashionable section of town, the high style
mausoleums along Cypress Avenue creates the impression of being the final resting-place for
turn-of-the-century Akron’saffluent society. These freestanding masonry structures all
feature ornamental entry facades. Symmetrically placed statuary or decorative urns flank many.
In front of the mausoleums bridges built in the same style and materials cross over the former
location of Willow Brook (non-extant).

The architectural style of the mausoleums includes Classical, Egyptian, Gothic and Romanesque
revival, Arts and Crafts, and Modeme. Many of these structures do not evidence a pure style,
rather they evidence a combination of stylistic elements. Mausoleums will be described
individually and in terms of the vistas the groupings create.

Vistas created by the groupings of these structures evidence the relatively uniform scale of the
mausoleums. The stone structures are mostly square or rectangular, are approximately 10 feet
high and have similar setbacks. Small stone landings and double bronze oxidized entry doors are
common features. The interiors of the mausoleums are typically marble faced and contain a
central passage with three crypts comprising the side walls. Some contain kneelers or small
benches and some have stained glass windows on the back wall. The curvilinear nature of
Cypress Avenue creates views that evidence the regular rhythmic arrangement and the wooded
valley walls that provide a backdrop for the lines of mausoleums and create an isolated sense of
place.

The row of mausoleums directly behind the chapel and facing the Maple tree allee represents the
first grouping. (Photo 6 ) Starting at the broader end of the valley near the entrance, the valley
floor narrows as Cypress Avenue approaches the intersection with Cherry Avenue. According to
the 1891 map, Willow Brook ran between the structures and the avenue, marked today by the
line of trees.
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The first mausoleum behind the chapel is the Frank-Waters structure. The slightly battered walls
contain no detailing, except the chamfered comers. (Photo 7) Two umns flank the fagade of the
structure. The door to the mausoleum appears to be a custom bronze cast. The artist’s initials
S.C. can be found at the bottom right of the door. A female figure in a mournful pose is the
central element of the door and a band running behind her downcast face reads “In Loving
Memory of Our Daughter Mary Waters Sneddon.” (Photo 8 )

The Bisbee—Janse and the Williams Mausoleums are the next structures, continuing west. Both
mausoleums are similar scale. (Photo 9 ) Both have urns flanking the central doors. The
primary difference is the use of smooth polished finished stone for the former and a rock-faced
finish for the later. The Williams mausoleum also has a stone front walk with two stairs and end
blocks at the bottom. (Photo 10)

The Warmer—Loesch Mausoleum is the largest in this grouping. A pure classical temple form,
the structure has a pediment roof with cornice, entablature, Doric columns, and projecting water
table. A stone walk and stairs front the structure and large rhododendron bushes are located on
both sides. (Photo 11 ) The back wall of this mausoleum contains a feature that is common to
many of these structures — a stained glass window. The Warner—Loesch stained glass is of
Christ the Shepherd, the figure holding a lamb in his arms while a sheep looks on. (Photo 12)
The stained glass window on the back wall has the effect of capturing light and projecting it onto
the marble walls of the interior.

The remaining mausoleums in this grouping are depicted in (Photo 13). The photo shows a
continuation of the common forms and stylistic elements found in the other mausoleums: gabled
temple forms or block forms with tiered roof coverings. Almost all have some type of front steps
leading to the central door and decorative urns are another common element.

The Creque—Howland and the Maag Mausoleums round the corner as Cypress Avenue veers in
a southwesterly direction. The Creque—Howland structure is built in a basilica form with a
front projecting pavilion of paired Doric columns supporting an entablature and pediment. The
smaller Maag Mausoleum is narrower than the others, with a facade consisting of the door
flanked by two columns. The side walls are constructed of three massive looking rough-faced
horizontal stones and a smooth finished shallow pediment forms the roof. Two stairs rise to the
central door and are flanked by scrolled side walls with oversized newel post elements. (Photo
14)
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The oldest mausoleum, dating from 1860, is the Commins vault. This stone structure is built into
the hillside and contains elements of the Egyptian Revival style. Although 1860 is very early for
this style, J.D. Commins, who founded Glendale Cemetery, traveled to Mount Auburn Cemetery
in Boston in 1838 to determine a pattern for his son's tomb (Photo 15 ) Heavy pilasters with
flared (bell) capitals flank the mausoleum structure. The gable roof contains a very slight
pediment. The door surrounds are wide plain-faced stone pilasters and lintel. The date is carved
into the lintel and the Commins name is carved into the stone above the door. A heavy bronze
door with the letter "C" is iocated in the center.

The intersection of the two avenues is marked by the Robinson Mausoleum, which sits in front
of a retaining wall in the hill and on a bench between the upper wooded and lower grassed
slopes. (Photo 16) The mausoleum is accessed by a flight of dressed and cut stone stairs
flanked by two small stone retaining walls. The stairs scroll out at the bottom and the flight is
broken by a sme!l landing before the final, narrower, stairs lead to the central double doors.

The mausoleum is designed in the Classical Revival style. The rectangular structure has a low-
pitched gable roof and is set on a cut stone based built into the hillside. The cut block is dressed
to a smooth finish. A simple molded pediment resting above a plain frieze and simple cornice
marks the gable front. The side elevation continues the entablature treatment found below the
gable on the facade. The corners of the facade are marked by square columns each with a
molded cornice and simple base. Rounding the facades comers pilasters are located on the side
wall elevations in the same treatment. Fluted and slightly tapered Doric columns set in antis
flank the large double bronze doors. The plain door surrounds contain the name “Robinson” on
the top horizontal member.

The interior of the mausoleum contains six vaults, three on either side. The walls and floor are
white marble with a beige marble trim band. The ceiling is a barrel vault type and is covered in
small white tile. The rear wall of the structure contains a stained glass rose window, in front of
which is a large bronze crucifix and bronze kneeler.

The Rutherford Mausoleum is a tall structure with a smooth faced block walls, a full entablature
which projects out from the fagade wall and is supported by two fluted shaft columns with
double lotus leaf capitals. The roof appears to be metal and the frieze band has two small laurel
wreaths at the corners. The door surrounds contains fluting that continues around the comners.
The tall lintel with nameplate suggests an Egyptian influence. (Photo 17)
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The Mustill Mausoleum is a gable-ended structure constructed of heavy rusticated stone. The
pediment lintel above the door contains the family name. The battered eave walls combined with
the large rusticated stone gives the structure a very heavy feeling. The door is fronted with a
gate of vertical poles. Two stone stairs lead to the entryway. (Photo 19)

The Nash Rabe Mausoleum has a Modemne or machined look. The central square structure has
restrained decorative banding at the comice line, base, and around the central bronze double
doors. A few tiered levels cap the roof and above the cornice line. Flanking the core structure
are two small retaining walls with small benches. The predominant motif is a band of starburst
pattern, each star contained by a square. This pattern runs up both sides of the bronze doors,
along the comice line and near the top of the flanking bench walls. The names “Nash Rabe” are
centered on the cornice and the letters “N” and “R”, each surrounded by a laurel wreath are
centered on the benich walls in the decorative banding. The location of the names and initials
suggest that the crypts inside are segregated by family. (Photo 20)

West of the Nash Rabe Mausoleum is the Carmichal Mausoleum. This heavy square dressed
stone structure is fronted by the bridge that originally crossed Willow Brook, which ran in front
of the mausoleum. The bridge consists of three square stone slabs forming the deck and two
balustrades with smooth curved tops rails and rusticated stone sides. A pyramidal stone roof,
stepped down to a cornice barfinscribed with a running Greek Key motif tops the mausoleum.
Five courses of large stone block make up the walls and the central double doors contain a raised
panel with a tree pattern. (Photo 21) -

The Noah Mausoleum evidences a mix of Romanesque references and Moderne. The Basilica
roof consists of smooth finished slabs with a small laurel wreath under the central pediment slab.
The side walls are courses of large rusticated stones and a heavy stone arch with a low spring
line marks the central entrance. Squat smooth shaft columns with scrolled capitals support the
arch. The spandrels are marked by elaborate relief scrollwork. Bronze double doors are
recessed from the front elevation plane and have decorative scrollwork. Two large taxis bushes
flank the entrance and a small bridge consisting of rounded smooth top rails and square end
blocks is located in front of the mausoleum. (Photo 22 )

The1910 Walter A. Franklin Mausoleum is perhaps the grandest mausoleum in the cemetery.
The polychrome random fieldstone and rubble stone elevations are marked with smooth stone
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fenestration and roofline trim. The side gable roof has a low pitch and stone cornice. The gable
apex is marked by an oculus window featuring a decorative spoke patterned grill. (Photo 23)
A large gabled front pavilion, which projects out from the core structure. Stone statues of a male
lion with cub and female lion with cub flank the front of the mausoleum and rest on stone bases
with elaborately carved relief panels featuring allegorical figures forming the base side walls.
(Photo 24) The end of the base states that they were carved in 1914 by the East End Marble and
Concrete Company, Cleveland Oh. Between the statuary and fronting the double doors runs a
square stone slab sidewalk, which is flanked by random fieldstone bridge side walls over the
former location of Willow Brook.

The facade of the mausoleum is richly detailed. The central pediment has a cornice dentil row
and a central double headed eagle. A full entablature runs beneath the pediment consisting of
cornice with dental row that raps around the side walls forming cornice returns, a wide frieze
band containing the inscribed name “Walter A. Franklin”. All of this rests on four full
Corinthian columns, paired on each side, with fluted shafts and bases resting on plinth stones. A
wide stone base course is interrupted by the stone trim around the large double bronze doors
consisting of a vertical bar motif. The stone trim around the doors has ears at the top and bottom
comners. The date stone (1910) is located above the doors. Taxis bushes are located on each side
of the mausoleum.

An uncharacteristic element in this imposing valley of mausoleums is the Daily Family
Memorial. This structure is a simple stone bench with a bronze plaquen the back rest. Set
immediately against the tree line of the hill the memorial is one of two bench monuments that
serve as memorials to the deceased. (Photo 26)

The Eddy Mausoleum is a very simple straightforward structure. The smooth stone block
contains no embellishments, except for the name carved above the doors. The roof'is
characterized by a very shallow gable resting atop a rectangular base and projecting cornice.
Two fluted Doric columns set in antis mark the recessed central opening. Two stone stairs front
the double doors. (Photo 27)

The Art Modeme Loomis family Mausoleum is a smooth faced stone structure with a crucifix on
the gable apex and a stylized dentil row under the small cornice. The central entrance is topped
by a full arch tympanum, which projects out from the plain door surround. The bronze door
consists of a vertical band of wheels with spokes set in square panels. The structure rests on a
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base fronted by two stairs and flanked by stone decorative urns. Omamental bushes are found on
one side.

The last grouping of mausoleums in the valley depicts the rows on the far east end of the north
side of Cypress Avenue. Photo 28 depicts the arrangement of the structures in this section,
evidencing a setback most likely oriented to the former water course rather than the road in the
foreground.

Ao
The. Gothlc Revival style Stadelman Grant Mausoleum is a polished stone structure with a gable
front capped by a crucifix. Beneath the gable apex is a thin rectangular opening similar to an
arrow port found in the wall of a medieval fortress. Two cantilevered square posts set on the
diagonal flank the apex and two buttresses are located at the corners of the fagade. Several steps
lead up to the lancet arch opening that house the double doors. Decorative taxis bushes are
located around the structure. (Photo 29)

The Work Mausoleum is a very clean Classical Revival structure. The gabled temple front
consist of a pronounced comice line, a frieze band with symmetrically space triglyphs flanking
the family inscription, a recessed entry portico supported by two Doric columns, and a stepped
platform fronting the structure. Sidewalls evidence the continuation of the frieze and cornice line
and are pierced by small rectangular windows covered with a metal grate. (Photo 30)

A beautiful pinkish salmon-colored marble structure, the Sisler Mausoleum is a square structure
that blends an Art Moderne style with a strong sense of Classicism. The roof is tiered, but unlike
other Moderne mausoleums, the bottom tier extends out from the wall plain and forms a comice.
A band runs under the cornice line containing laurel wreaths at the ends. The central entry is
recessed and flanked by two Doric columns in antis. Steps flanked by decorative urns form the
platform upon which the core structure rests. (Photo 31)

The Yeager Mausoleum evidences two distinct finishes: rock faced and finished. The structure
has smooth stone slabs that form a slight pediment roof above a smooth frieze band. Three
horizontal rock faced stone slabs form the sidewalls and the front wall consists of two rock faced
stone slabs flanking the door and surrounds. A simple smooth cornice block tops the door
surround and the nameplate forms the frieze element of the surround. The doors have a glazed
panel with craftsman appearing muntins. Blocks project out from the side and support stone
planting urns. (Photo 32)
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The Bertram Work Mausoleum is dressed block structure with battered walls, a small pediment
roof, and a simple projecting cornice. The frieze band under the comice contains alternating
pattern of disks and -+7ig1yphs The door surrounds form a simple pediment and the nameplate is
the lintel. The large doors are coffered and the handles are lions’ heads with rings. The entire
structure is on a polished granite base with curved top edge and cavetto sides. (Photo 33 )

The Hill Mausoleum is a gfg:c}sicalstructure with a cruciform plan. A small pediment block
tops the projecting fagade. The bottom of the dressed, cut stone wall plane is marked by slight
outward curve above the tall base. An incised cross is centered above the name in raised letters.
Laurel wreaths flank the name block. Under these elements, a running scroll band is set off by a
slight cornice. A leaf decoration with disk end blocks runs around the top portion of the door
surround. The double doors contain vertical poles with laurel wreaths in the center. The
structure is fronted by a walkway with wide curb stones and square block deck. (Photo 34)

The following is a list of mausoleums along Cypress Avenue beginning from behind the chapel
on the south side of the avenue and proceeding west.

Frank Wateres

Frisbee-Jones

Williams

Warner Losch

Fuchs

Good-Dodge
Watterau—McGalliar—Rowley
Creque—Howland

Maag

Held

E.S. Day

J.D. Commins -- 1860
Rutherford

Hill (Ash Avenue approaching Southern Plateau from west)

O ~J oy W=
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Starting with the Robinson Mausoleum, which is situated above the corner of Cypress and
Cherry avenues on the north side of Cypress Avenue, the mausoleums are in the following
order:

15.  Robinson

16.  Mustill -- 1901

17.  Nash-Rabe

18. Carmichael (with bridge in front)

19. Noah (with bridge in front)

20.  Franklin (with bridge in front) 1910

21.  Mason - Raymond -- Howland

22.  Eddy

23. Loomis

24.  Stadelman - Grant - 1919 (association notes reference approval mausoleum and bridge)
25, Work

26.  Sisler

27.  Yeager

28. Bertram Work

Prospect Hill,Section O and surrounding sections

Cherry Avenue climbs north from Cypress Avenue up Prospect Hill, which is located northwest
of the central valley. At the top of this slope, the lane splits. (Photo 38) The naming of Prospect
Hill refers to its wonderful vistas over the dale below, now largely obscured by mature trees. The
only mausoleum in this section is at the entrance to this hilltop. The Lambarter mausoleum
(#37 on site map) is aPrustlcated granite structure and is set into the hillside immediately before
the avenue reaches the top of the hill. The gray stone structure features two polished granite
half columns flanking the bronze double door. The interior of the structure is faced with white
marble and contains six vaults. (Photo 39)

The topography of this area is a flattened hilltop. To the east and south, the slope is rather steep
as it comprises part of the valley wall that defines Cypress Lane and the Main Entrance area.
The western hillside, which contains Cherry Avenue, is also steep. The northern side of the
hilltop is a gentle slope down to the edge of Glendale and Maple avenues, which are hidden by
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the wooded tree line and separated from the grounds by a chain link fence.

The 1891 map indicates that this section’s circulation pattern has been changed. Although most
of the major avenues are still extant, many have been truncated and a few have been eliminated.
The other change is the absence of paths that existed between the roads and the presence of a
stream that flowed into Willow Brook. The following roads have been truncated or removed in
this section.

Cherry Avenue
PawPaw Avenue
Larch Avenue
Central Avenue
Yew Avenue
Pine Avenue
Poplar Avenue
Hemlock Avenue

The layout of Prospect Hill is one of two circular arrangements of gravestones and stone
monuments. All of these objects face outward toward the edges of the circles. The first and
second arrangement of gravesites is separated by a grassy central passageway, that according to
the 1891 site plan, was originally a road. A black top road runs around the periphery of the
hilltop and connects to Cherry Avenue, which continues in a north west direction.

The grounds of Prospect Hill are covered with grass and contain a variety of trees and
ornamental shrubs. Most notable are the mature oaks that provide an upper canopy for the
area. Some plots contain small taxis shrubs and others have Rhodadendrum bushes. Built
landscape features include the stone and brick sewer pipe stands and the cut stone step fronting
the Ritchie Family marker on the northeast side. The primary built landscape features are the
headstones and monuments.

Because of the wooded buffer around the top of Prospect Hill, there is not much of a view or
vista from this site. Rather, the trees create a well-defined sense of space, which is given
further identity by the consistent type of burial monument found in this area. Rather than the
Cypress Avenue stone mausoleums containing vaults for deceased family members, this area is
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made up of large family monuments, such as statuary on pedestals, obelisk, gothic steeples,
and, more commonly, large pediment stones bearing the family name. Fronting these
monuments are smaller gravestones, often segmental arches of the same stone and finish,
bearing the names of the family members buried in the plot.

An example of this type is the Ritchie Family monument, which consists of a rectangular stone
structure on a simple molded base. An elaborately carved entablature course lies under the hip
shaped capstone. In front of the monument are the small arched stone grave markers.
“Mother” and “Father” are carved into the front side of the center stones, with the others
labeled on top of the arch. (Photo 40)

More elaborate family monuments with individual headstones include the Howard family -
monument. A marching victory figure stands atop a central pedestal of a massive pedestal base
consisting of a central scrolled segmental arch supported by a modillion row cornice and squat
grouped columns marking the corners. All of this rests on a series of bases that step down to
the ground. In front of the monument are the simple segmental arch in-ground individual
Howard family member stones. (Photo 41)

The Bierce family monument is a tall column set on a stone base with corner columns topped
by small gables. The shaft of the column contains a banding element half way up to the full
Corinthian Capital. Above the capital is a grouping of square columns with an obelisk-like
tops and a crocketed finial. The individual stones are small flat markers that are spaced in a
circle about 15 feet away from the monument. (Photo 42)

Section 9

The next section (Section 9 (IX -- number from 1891 map) consists of a sliver of slightly
rolling terrain bordered by Glendale Avenue, South Maple Avenue, and the asphalt drive that
continues Cherry Lane. The grass lawn slopes down from the fence to the road and is
bordered by curbstones. A chain link fence topped with barbed wire runs along the sidewalk
that borders Glendale and South Maple Avenue. Vegetation consists of mature trees either
along the fence or along the drive. A few decorative shrubs can be found along the fence and
a limited number of taxis: shrubs are located adjacent to the gravestones. All of the grave
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stones and markers in this area face toward the drive. (Photo 43)

A small scale marker found in Section 9 is the John Blue grave monument. This small white
marble cruciform tower dates from 1886 and states that John Blue was born in Ireland and died
at the age of 29. (Photo 44) Family monuments accompanied by individual stones for family
members are found in this area. Of note is the Taylor family gravesite, which is marked by a
smooth granite sphere on a pyramidal base. The monument and accompanying individual
markers date from the 1930s. (Photo 45)

The monuments and markers appear to be somewhat unequally spaced and range in style size
and age. Although rows of markers are apparent, randomly spaced headstones are equally
apparent. (Photo 46) The size of the monuments is small to mid-size, including single stone
markers set into the ground and obelisks up to six feet in height. This is a lesser space located
along side the roads and the monuments are more modest than those found in settings that are
more scenic.

Section O

A circular land area bound by asphalt drives with no edges, Section O’s grave markers face
outward forming concentric circles of monuments. Oak and Maple trees and small shrubs line
the circle drive. Some taxis bushes are randomly located in the area, usually adjacent to
headstones. Also of note, some of the stones in this area are facing inward, possibly indicating
a past circulation pattern. Monuments consist of mostly mid-size family monuments with a
line of smaller family stones. (Photo 47)

In the center of this section, there is a large GAR memorial stone commemorating the Buckley
Post. The text on the stone reads “This memorial erected in memory of its departed comrades
by Buckley Post Grand Army of the Republic by Order of A. D. Miller Commander and sole
survivor, 1940. (Photo 48) Forty-eight smaller headstones for the individual men who served
as soldiers of this post lie immediately around the memorial. The 1891 map shows a central
circular area in Section O around the monument labeled as “single graves”. (Photo 49)

Also in this section is Phillip Upington’s grave monument, which indicates that he was a
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mason and Christian. The squat, square black granite monument has segmental arch molded
tops with a decorative keystone on the front side. The crucifix and crown of thorns symbol is
located under the keystone. The corners are marked by columns with ornamental
capitals and the Masonic symbol is in the middle of the base top. The last name of Upington is
carved on the front base. (Photo 50)

Photo 51 illustrates how the stones are lining the curving edge of the section. The outer row
faces out and the next row faces in toward the center of the hill. The north side of the section
is devoid of grave markers. The 1891 site maps indicates that this section was owned by the
GAR and perhaps exceeded their need for plots.

Sections V,W, and K

The northern ridge (Sections V, W, and K) of the central Cypress Valley is lined with
markers that front the wooded valley wall and are somewhat evenly set back from the drive.
Hemlock and Sycamore roads, which line this section is a curvilinear route that groups
monuments and subsequently creates views. Historically, Hemlock and Sycamore roads were
distinct routes, but they now are one road as the western end of Sycamore has been grassed in.
The current map defines this area as Section V, W, and K, moving north to south. The
northern most area of section V contains two groupings of family plots. The Clark family plot
contains a headstone monument with a smooth face and Art-Deco stylistic elements.
Five individual stones are set in front of the monument. (Photo 52)

Photo 53 illustrates how the monuments are lined up against the wooded ridge in this section.
Of note in this area is the monument consisting of a rusticated base supporting a three-stone
battered rusticated shaft, which has cannon shafts marking the four corners. Atop the shaft is a
smooth sphere, perhaps representing a cannon ball, but not one that would fit in the symbolic
shafts. This is the grave of Corporal John W. Kelly, 6" Ohio Battery, 1836 to 1909.

Continuing south along the ridge past a grouping of trees that interrupt the line of monuments,
is Section W (Photo 54). These monuments are arranged in a curving line. The family
monuments are solid block segmental arch head upright stones resting on a base stone. The
family name is inscribed on the stone face. Fronting the large monuments, small stones
marking the graves of individual family members run parallel to the road.
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Near the end of the ridge is an unusual type of family monument: a double bench. Set against
the wooded ridge line, this bench consists of two solid granite benches with rounded corners
and separated by three arm rests, two located at the ends and one in the middle. The bench
seats are carved out a solid block - there are no seam markings. The presence of seating in a
cemetery almost suggests visitors would be provided the opportunities to sit, rest, and perhaps
contemplate mortality. Family members’ stones are lined in front and irregularly spaced.
(Photo 55)

Continuing south along the ridgeline are moderate sized monuments fronted by linear
arrangements of small family headstones. The end of the ridgeline contains two moderate
sized obelisks, neither one fronted by smaller stones. (Photo 56)

Oak Openings

Section 6 and Sec. S (Oak Openings) is located on the northwest edge of the cemetery, abutting
S. Maple Street, this section contains a variety of sizes and styles of monuments..

This area was originally the City of Akron Potters Field, which explains the variety of types
and ages of the grave markers and their seemingly random orientation. The area contains
mature Oak trees and is bordered by a chain link fence on the street side. (Photo 57) The

1891 site plan for the cemetery shows this area as having two curvilinear edged sections on the
east side (See Illustration7) (Photo 58 ), a rectangular grid area in the center, and a circular
section bound by Cherry Avenue on the west end. The rectangular grided area is divided by
the intersection of Cherry Avenue and Central Avenue. These roads or drives are not extant,
but a cleared area depicted in Photo 59 suggests this could possibly be the western continuation
of Cherry Street. Overall, the confused orientation of the stones and monuments in the area
suggests an orientation pattern directed by more than one previous circulation pattern.

A central cleared linear area is most likely the location of the Center Avenue. Grave markers
and headstones face toward the east or west (respectively) and away from the cleared area.
(Photo 60) The grouping of newer headstones from the past few decades indicates the right of
way for Cherry Street. These stones typically have polished services, are no taller than a few
feet and sometimes have photographs of the deceased embossed on the stone, such as the Bell
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headstone. (Photo 60)

The central and northwest area of the cemetery appears to have developed quite differently
from how it is depicted in the 1891 county atlas. The current cemetery map labels these
sections as follows: Sections A, B, C, E, F, G, H, and Sec. 27 and Add. 27. Roads or paths
with the 1891 map names, such as Maple Avenue, Popular Avenue, and Yew Avenue do not
appear on current maps, as well as several minor and unnamed paths. The result is a
landscape of section markers that do not appear to correlate with current roads. These former
roads and paths did determine the orientation of the graves and have resulted in areas that are
cleared for no apparent reason. Some of these grass-covered passageways have recent
headstones placed in the right-of-way, indicating what period these plots became available and
changes were made to the landscape.

The eastern edge of this section contains a relatively linear arrangement of the stones facing
Section O. This is consistent with the 1891 map, which indicates separate sections that were
oriented to the curves of Beech and Sycamore Avenues, fronting the middle grid arrangement.
The former intersection of Cherry Avenue (the east-west route of the central grid section) and
Beech Avenue borders Section O. Although Section 6A Lot 1 is not shown on the cemetery
map, the dates and recent design elements of the headstones indicate they are much more
recent than the 19" century monuments and headstones on either side.

A noteworthy monument in the western half of the central grid section is the attenuated obelisk
monument for the Bickel family. Photo 61 shows the austere form of the obelisk that suggests
a miniature Washington Monument. The monument in Photo 62 consists of a large stone slab
with a shallow hip shape which overhangs the 1’ high walls and contains a truncated square
column on a square pediment in the center. Photo 63, depicting the western edge of the
middle grid section, includes a buried curbing that suggests the plot had one owner, but the
arrangement of headstones in and around the square suggest that this boundary was violated.

Section M, the oval section that defines a slight hill, is depicted in Photo 64. Right of the
Section 8 Lot R sign, the curving arrangements of stones represents the western boundary of
Section M. This arrangement continues around as depicted in Photo 65, which also shows the
rise of the land into the small hill. West of Section M the stones are smaller, of a more recent
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age, and all face the same direction all creating a landscape associated with a more modern and
efficient cemetery than the curvilinear romantic landscape of most of Glendale (Photo 66).
Photo 67 depicts the chain link fence that separates Glendale from St. Bernard’s Catholic
cemetery. Immediately south of St. Bernard’s cemetery fence is an open, grassed area with
regularly spaced trees and ground-level grave markers ~ the most recent section of Glendale.
(Photo 68)

The next area is located north-northwest of the Great meadow and the Valley, and southwest of
the previous section that borders Maple Street. The 1891 map identifies this area as containing
Sections A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, and J. The avenue names are, moving east to west Oak,
Yew, Maple, Larch, Cherry, Pine, Walnut, Poplar, and Hemlock. A stream bed appears to
have run from Pine to Cypress in a north-south direction. Remnants of this can be found in the
current landscape. Sections 27, 28, and 29 were bound by Border, Laurel, Elm, Magnolia,
and Cypress avenues.

Remaining avenues and segments of avenues are Larch, Cherry, Maple, Yew, Pine, Walnut,
and Hemlock. Poplar and Oak are no longer pathways or avenues. To the west, Elm,
Magnolia and Cypress are intact, but Laurel defines a much smaller loop than is depicted on
the 1891 map.

Photo 69 depicts the former easterly continuation of Cherry Avenue and its current
configuration turning into the former Central Avenue. Facing an opposite direction, Photo 70
illustrates the landscape form and general headstone size, style and arrangement found in this
section. Photo 71 faces south and shows the former alignment for the Central Avenue south to
Walnut. A former stream also went through this area, separating distinct sections of the
cemetery, but did not exist as a path or roadway and is depicted as a roadway on the 1891
map.

Photo 72 shows a shallow valley between two hills that was originally the continuation of Pine
Lane, which separated Sections A and B and ended at Central Avenue. This section is now
labeled as Section 4 Lot R and contains relatively recent headstones. The other end of Pine
Lane more strongly indicates the former presence of a road with the paved apron of the road’s
intersection with Central Avenue, headstones perfectly aligned with the former road edge, and
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the two mature trees standing opposite each other at a road edge. (Photo 73)

Photo 74 shows a two-lane dirt road that connects to Walnut and curves around to follow the
alignment of the former streambed. Walnut and the streambed did intersect, but it seems
unlikely that this was a designed pathway. The large Celtic cross family marker is located off
Walnut and sits atop a hill. (Photo 75) Immediately west of 